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COMPREHENSIVE INTRA-
OPERATIVE SYSTEMS, INC.; 
MICHAEL “MIC” McGRATH, 
individually and d/b/a 
COMPREHENSIVE INTRA-
OPERATIVE SYSTEMS, INC.;  
DAVID TYSON;  
INTERNATIONAL IMPLANTS, LLC; 
WILLIAM CROWDER, individually and 
d/b/a CROWDER MACHINE & TOOL 
SHOP;  
CROWDER MACHINE & TOOL SHOP; 
PAUL RANDALL;  
JACK AKMAKJIAN, M.D., individually 
and d/b/a AKMAKJIAN SPINE AND 
GENERAL ORTHOPEDICS CENTER, 
INC.;  
G. SUNNY UPPAL, M.D.;  
KHALID AHMED, M.D.; and 
DOES 1 through 200, 
 

Defendants. 
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On information and belief, Plaintiff alleges as follows: 

I. OVERVIEW 

1. On February 21, 2014, the U.S. Department of Justice announced that Defendant 

MICHAEL D. DROBOT (hereinafter “DROBOT”) had entered into a plea agreement in which he 

admitted running a sophisticated fraud scheme involving the payment of kickbacks to doctors, 

chiropractors and others who referred patients to Defendant HEALTHSMART PACIFIC, INC. 

D/B/A PACIFIC HOSPITAL OF LONG BEACH (HEREINAFTER “PACIFIC HOSPITAL”) for 

spinal fusion surgeries and other procedures.  The kickbacks added up to tens of millions of dollars 

and were derived as part of an even larger overarching conspiracy to bilk insurance companies and 

individuals out of over $500 million, over a five year period, through the submission fraudulent 

bills for spinal fusion surgeries.  This was just the tip of the iceberg – as the conspiratorial plot to 

secure fraudulent profits involved a much wider network of participants – and included a plan to 

manufacture, distribute, sell and implant counterfeit medical devices used in spinal fusion surgeries 

of patients. 

2. At all times herein relevant Plaintiff MARY CAVALIERI (hereafter 

“CAVALIERI”) was a patient of Defendant KHALID AHMED, M.D. (hereinafter “AHMED”), an 

orthopedic surgeon specializing in spinal fusion surgery.  Unbeknownst to CALVALIERI, 

AHMED was a major participant in the conspiracy – a surgeon whose selection of hospitals and 

implantable spinal fixation devices was influenced by the payment of monetary kickbacks.  

3. CAVALIERI underwent two separate lumbar fusion procedures, referred to as 

“360” or “anterior/posterior lumbar fusion,” fusing the back and front of the spine at two levels.  

4. On or about June 26, 2010, CAVALIERI underwent the anterior lumbar interbody 

fusion (“ALIF”) procedure at Defendant PACIFIC HOSPITAL, which was owned and operated by 

DROBOT, with AHMED performing the surgery.  On information and belief, AHMED selected 

PACIFIC HOSPITAL as the location of the surgery to receive a kickback of an undisclosed 

amount paid by or on behalf of Defendants DROBOT and PACIFIC HOSPITAL.  In doing so, 

AHMED agreed to use certain implantable spinal fixation devices supplied to PACIFIC 

HOSPITAL through DROBOT’s “sham” distributorship of implantable medical devices, 
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Defendant INTERNATIONAL IMPLANTS, LLC (hereinafter “II”).  II and PACIFIC HOSPITAL 

regularly obtained implantable spinal fixation devices from Defendant SPINAL SOLUTIONS, 

LLC (hereinafter “SS”), a distributor of medical devices that also manufactured and distributed 

false, fraudulent, fake, counterfeit, non-FDA approved “knock-off” implantable spinal fixation 

devices, including screws, rods and interbody cages that were produced in a machine shop in 

Temecula, California.   

5. Three months after the ALIF procedure, on or about September 18, 2010, 

CAVALIERI underwent the posterior lumbar interbody fusion (“PLIF”) procedure at PACIFIC 

HOSPITAL with AHMED again performing the surgery.  AHMED selected PACIFIC HOSPITAL 

as the location of the second procedure to receive a second kickback of an undisclosed amount paid 

by or on behalf of Defendants DROBOT and PACIFIC HOSPITAL. In doing so, AHMED again 

agreed to use implantable spinal fixation devices supplied to PACIFIC HOSPITAL through II.   

6. Due to complications associated with the spinal implants from the first two spinal 

fusion procedures, CAVALIERI had a third procedure to surgically remove her posterior spinal 

implants.  This procedure was performed by Duncan Q. McBride, M.D. at UCLA medical center.  

CAVALIERI did not have the two cages implanted into her spine removed or “explanted,” as it 

would necessarily reverse the fusion, requiring a refusion procedure, and she was advised that there 

is substantial risk associated with removing or explanting the interbody cages, including death. 

7. CAVALIERI is among thousands of spinal fusion surgery patients in Southern 

California and elsewhere who had such counterfeit, non-FDA approved medical devices implanted 

into their bodies as a consequence of the systematic pattern of fraud and deceit carried on by 

Defendants.  With respect to CAVALIERI’s surgeries, SS supplied implantable spinal fixation 

hardware.    

8. This lawsuit is brought by CAVALIERI in an effort to stop the prevalent fraud and 

abuse in our healthcare system by certain doctors, hospitals, marketers, and medical device 

distributors who willfully engaged in fraudulent activity with a conscious disregard for the health, 

safety, and well-being of individuals in need of medical care, including Plaintiff, in order to 

promote their own financial gain.  She also brings this lawsuit to seek damages for the implantation 
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of foreign objects which were surgically implanted into her spine in the course of her spinal fusion 

surgeries at PACIFIC HOSPITAL. 

9. At the center of the scheme was a systematic pattern of fraud and deceit fueled by 

the payment of illegal kickbacks, which were in turn derived from illegal profits generated by the 

fraudulent inflation of health care charges billed to insurers and individuals for the cost of 

implantable spinal fixation devices used in spinal fusion surgeries.   

10. In furtherance of the conspiratorial scheme to unlawfully profit from spinal fusion 

surgeries, Defendants, and each of them, conspired with and/or aided and abetted one another in 

connection with the manufacture, distribution, sale and use of counterfeit, non-FDA approved 

spinal fusion hardware that was implanted into the bodies of patients, including Plaintiff, without 

their knowledge and consent.   
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11. As a legal result of the concerted wrongful acts of each of the Defendants, 

CAVALIERI suffered the injuries and damages hereinafter set forth. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

12. This Court has jurisdiction over the entire action because this is a civil action where 

the matter in controversy, exclusive of interest and costs, exceeds the jurisdictional minimum of the 

Court.  The conspiracy to defraud insurance companies that led to the implantation of foreign 

objects into the body of Plaintiff occurred in or about the County of Los Angeles, State of 

California. 

13. Venue is proper in the County of Los Angeles because the events giving rise to 

Plaintiff’s claims and/or the injuries sustained by Plaintiff arise from tortious acts and/or omissions, 

which occurred in the County of Los Angeles, State of California and at least one defendant resides 

in the County of Los Angeles.  

III. PARTIES 

A. Plaintiffs 

14.  CAVALIERI is an individual who, at all times herein relevant, was a resident of 

Glendora, County of Los Angeles, California. 

B. Defendants 

1. The Hospital and Hospital Related Defendants 

a. Pacific Hospital 

15. Defendant PACIFIC HOSPITAL was, at all times herein relevant, a California 

corporation with its principal place of business in the County of Los Angeles, at 2776 Pacific 

Avenue, Long Beach, California.  PACIFIC HOSPITAL is a for-profit hospital that specialized in 

surgeries, particularly spinal and orthopedic surgeries, and has been one of the most prolific in 

performing spinal fusion surgeries during the past decade.   

b. Michael D. Drobot 

16. DROBOT was a resident of the City of Newport Beach, County of Orange, 

California and owned, controlled, and managed PACIFIC HOSPITAL.  DROBOT purchased the 

hospital in 1997 and immediately shifted its focus to spinal care for workers’ compensation 
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patients.   

c. Tri-City Hospital 

17. At all times herein relevant, Defendant GARDENS REGIONAL HOSPITAL AND 

MEDICAL CENTER INC. d/b/a TRI-CITY REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER (hereinafter “TRI-

CITY”) was and is a hospital located in the County of Los Angeles, at 21530 Pioneer Boulevard, 

Hawaiian Gardens, California.     

d. Riverside Hospital 

18. Defendant RIVERSIDE COMMUNITY HOSPITAL (hereinafter “RIVERSIDE”) 

is, and at all times relevant was, a hospital located in the County of Riverside, at 4445 Magnolia 

Avenue, Riverside, California.  RIVERSIDE conducts approximately 10,000 inpatient and 

outpatient surgeries per year, including spinal fusion surgeries.  

e. Parkview Hospital 

19. Defendant PARKVIEW COMMUNITY HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC. 

(hereinafter “PARKVIEW”) is a 193-bed hospital located and doing business in the County of 

Riverside, at 3865 Jackson Street, Riverside, California.   

f. St. Bernardine Hospital 

20. Defendant ST. BERNARDINE MEDICAL CENTER (hereinafter “ST. 

BERNARDINE”) is a hospital located and doing business in the County of San Bernardino, at 

2101 N. Waterman Avenue, San Bernardino, California.  ST. BERNARDINE is part of Dignity 

Health, one of the largest hospital providers in the country and the largest hospital system in the 

State of California.   

g. Doe Hospital and Hospital-Related Defendants 

21. Plaintiff is ignorant of the names and capacities of additional hospital and hospital-

related defendants sued herein as DOES 1 through 25, inclusive, and therefore sue such Defendants 

by fictitious names pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 474.  Plaintiff will 

amend this Complaint to allege the true names and capacities of the fictitiously named Defendants 

once they are ascertained. 
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2. The Distributor and Distributor-Related Defendants 

a. Spinal Solutions, LLC  

22. At all times relevant, SS was a medical-implant distributorship owned and operated 

by Defendant ROGER WILLIAMS and his then-wife, Defendant MARY SISLER WILLIAMS.  

Defendant SS was located and doing business in the County of Riverside, at 26157 Jefferson 

Avenue, Murrieta, California.  SS is also a manufacturer defendant.   

b. Orthopedic Alliance, LLC 

23. Defendant ORTHOPEDIC ALLIANCE, LLC (hereinafter “OA”) was, at all times 

herein relevant, another orthopedic device/implant distributorship owned and operated by 

Defendant ROGER WILLIAMS and his then-wife, Defendant MARY SISLER WILLIAMS, 

located at 26157 Jefferson Avenue, Murrieta, California.  OA was a subsidiary of SS, operating at 

the same facility with the same staff, officers, directors, managers, and inventory.  OA is also a 

manufacturer defendant.  

c. Roger Williams 

24. Defendant ROGER WILLIAMS (hereinafter “WILLIAMS”) is an individual who, 

at all times herein relevant, resided in the County of Riverside, State of California.  

d. Jeffrey Fields 

25. At all times herein mentioned, Defendant JEFFREY FIELDS (hereinafter 

“FIELDS”) was an individual residing in the County of Riverside, California.  At all times herein 

relevant, FIELDS was the Operations Manager of SS and OA. 

e. Mary Sisler Williams 

26. Defendant MARY SISLER WILLIAMS (hereinafter “MSW”) was an individual 

who at all times relevant was the wife of Defendant WILLIAMS and resided in the County of 

Riverside, California.   

f. Comprehensive Intra-Operative Services, Inc. 

27. Defendant COMPREHENSIVE INTRA-OPERATIVE SYSTEMS, INC. 

(hereinafter “C.I.O.S.”) was at all times relevant a “marketer” and/or distributor of medical services 

and/or implantable spinal fixation devices doing business as a sole proprietorship, corporation, or 
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other legal entity in the County of Riverside, California.  

g. Michael “Mic” McGrath 

28. Defendant MICHAEL “MIC” McGRATH (hereinafter “McGRATH”) was at all 

times relevant an individual residing in the County of Riverside, California.  McGrath owned, 

operated, and/or controlled Defendant C.I.O.S. with respect to the acts and/or omissions hereinafter 

set forth.   McGRATH also acted as a “marketer” for TRI-CITY and PACIFIC HOSPITAL 

through his “sham” distributorship C.I.O.S. for SS, paying kickbacks to spinal surgeons in 

exchange for the referral of patients.  He is both a distributor and marketer defendant.  

h. David Tyson 

29. Defendant DAVID TYSON (hereinafter “TYSON”) was at all times relevant an 

individual residing in the City of Riverside, County of Riverside, California.  TYSON was a sales 

representative and technician for Defendants SS and C.I.O.S., and was involved in the sale of the 

purported implantable hardware. 

i. International Implants, LLC 

30. Defendant INTERNATIONAL IMPLANTS, LLC (hereinafter “II”) was at all times 

relevant located at 20377 SW Acacia St., Suite 110, Newport Beach California.  II was a “sham 

distributorship” owned and operated by DROBOT to falsely inflate the cost of implantable 

hardware on bills submitted to insurers.   

j. Doe Distributor and Distributor-Related Defendants 

31. Plaintiff is ignorant of the names and capacities of additional distributors and 

distributor-related defendants sued herein as DOES 26 through 50, inclusive, and therefore sue 

such Defendants by fictitious names pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 474.  

Plaintiff will amend this Complaint to allege the true names and capacities of the fictitiously named 

Defendants once they are ascertained. 

3. The Manufacturer and Manufacturer-Related Defendants 

a. William Crowder 

32. At all times herein relevant, Defendant WILLIAM CROWDER (hereinafter 

“CROWDER”) was and is an individual residing in the County of Riverside, California who owns 



 

COMPLAINT 8 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

and operates a machine shop doing business as CROWDER MACHINE & TOOL SHOP 

(hereinafter “CROWDER MTS”) in Temecula, California.  

b. Crowder Machine & Tool Shop  

33. At all times herein relevant, Defendant CROWDER MTS was at all times relevant 

located at 43339 Business Park Drive, Temecula, California.  The machine shop was owned and 

operated by CROWDER.  

c. Doe Manufacturer and Manufacturer-Related Defendants  

34. Plaintiff is ignorant of the names and capacities of additional manufacturers and 

manufacturer-related defendants sued herein as DOES 51 through 75, inclusive, and therefore sue 

such Defendants by fictitious names pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 474.  

Plaintiff will amend this Complaint to allege the true names and capacities of the fictitiously named 

Defendants once they are ascertained. 

4. The Marketer Defendants   

a. Paul Randall 

35. At all times herein relevant, Defendant PAUL RANDALL (hereinafter 

“RANDALL”) was and is an individual residing in the City and County of Orange, California.  

Defendant RANDALL recruited a network of loyal doctors and chiropractors who would refer 

spinal cases to Defendant Hospitals in exchange for illegal kickbacks, paying chiropractors and 

physicians kickbacks of approximately $15,000 each for a spinal fusion referral.  RANDALL also, 

at various times, acted as a distributor of various medical devices, including, but not limited to, 

implantable spinal fixation devices. 

b. Doe Marketer Defendants  

36. Plaintiff is ignorant of the names and capacities of additional marketer defendants 

sued herein as DOES 76 through 100, inclusive, and therefore sue such Defendants by fictitious 

names pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 474.  Plaintiff will amend this 

Complaint to allege the true names and capacities of the fictitiously named Defendants once they 

are ascertained. 
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5. The Doctor Defendants 

a. Jack Akmakjian, M.D. 

37. Defendant JACK AKMAKJIAN, M.D. (hereinafter “AKMAKJIAN”) is a spinal 

surgeon performing surgeries in various hospitals throughout Southern California, including 

PARKVIEW, TRI-CITY, RCH and PACIFIC HOSPITAL.  His principal place of business is 

located in the City of Riverside, County of Riverside, California.  AKMAKJIAN owns and 

operates ASGOC, which has a principal place of business located in the City of Riverside, County 

of Riverside, California.   

b. Gurvinder “Sunny” Uppal, M.D. 

38. Defendant GURVINDER “SUNNY” UPPAL, M.D. (hereinafter “UPPAL”) is a 

spinal surgeon performing surgeries in the Southern California region.  His principal place of 

business is located in the City of Riverside, County of Riverside, California.   

c. Khalid Ahmed, M.D. 

39. Defendant AHMED is a spinal surgeon performing surgeries in the Southern 

California region and is the owner and operator of Khalid B. Ahmed Medical Corporation.  

AHMED’s principal place of business is located in Pico Rivera, Los Angeles County, 

California.   

d. Doe Doctor Defendants 

40. Plaintiff is ignorant of the names and capacities of additional Defendant 

Doctors sued herein as DOES 101 through 150, inclusive, and therefore sue such 

Defendants by fictitious names pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 474.  

Plaintiff will amend this Complaint to allege the true names and capacities of the 

fictitiously named Defendants once they are ascertained.  

C. Doe Defendants  

41. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or 

otherwise, of Defendants DOES 1 through 200, inclusive, and each of them, are currently unknown 

to Plaintiff who therefore sues such defendants by such fictitious names and capacities.  Plaintiff is 

informed and believes, and thereupon alleges, that each fictitiously named defendant, whether 
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acting for itself or as an agent, corporation, association, or otherwise, is liable herein.  While at this 

time Plaintiff is unaware of the true names and capacities of the DOE Defendants, Plaintiff will 

amend this complaint to show the true names of each when then same has been ascertained.   

IV. AGENCY AND CONCERT OF ACTION 

42. At all times herein mentioned, Defendants and/or DOES 1 through 200, and each of 

them, hereinabove, were the agents, servants, employees, partners, aiders and abettors, co-

conspirators, and/or joint venturers of each of the other Defendants named herein and were at all 

times operating and acting within the purpose and scope of said agency, service, employment, 

partnership, enterprise, conspiracy, and/or joint venture, and each Defendant has ratified and 

approved the acts of each of the remaining Defendants.  Each of the Defendants aided and abetted, 

encouraged, and rendered substantial assistance to the other Defendants in wrongfully causing 

injury and damage to Plaintiffs, as alleged herein.  In taking action to aid and abet and substantially 

assist the commission of these wrongful acts and other wrongdoings complained of, as alleged 

herein, each of the Defendants acted with an awareness of his/her/its primary wrongdoing and 

realized that his/her/its conduct would substantially assist the accomplishment of the wrongful 

conduct, wrongful goals, and wrongdoing. 

43. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges, that Defendants and each 

of the DOE Defendants are in some manner, responsible for the events and happenings herein set 

forth and proximately caused injury and damages to the Plaintiff as herein alleged. 

V. FACTUAL BACKGROUND OF THE FRADULENT SCHEME 

A. Spinal Fusion Surgery 

44. Spinal fusion is major surgery to join or fuse two or more vertebrae to prevent 

movement between the vertebrae.  The surgery can be performed either through an incision in the 

back, the abdomen, or a combination of both.  In many cases, spinal fusion procedures involve the 

implantation of a number of different metal spinal fixation devices, including but not limited to 

plates, screws, rods, screw caps, and interbody cages, used to hold the vertebrae together until new 

bone grows between them.  
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As a result of the intrusive nature of the operation, the surgical hardware cannot be removed 

without reversing the fusion and without significant risk of death or injury to the patient.   

B. Defendants Fraudulently Inflate Medical Bills to Increase Financial Gains 

45. Enacted in or around 2002, California Labor Code Section 5318 was intended by the 

California State Legislature to be a “pass-through” provision requiring workers’ compensation 

carriers in California to pay 100% of a hospital’s documented cost of implantable hardware 

used in spinal fusion surgeries, plus $250.  After the enactment of the legislation, the profits made 

by manufacturers, distributors and hospitals soared, largely due to the exploitation of the 

legislation, the creation of “sham” distributorships, and the inflation of the documented cost of 

hardware through false and fraudulent invoices and bills.  The legislation allowed DROBOT and 

his hospitals and co-conspirators to force the carriers and others to pay whatever artificial, 

fraudulent sum was listed on the bills.  To accomplish this, DROBOT and others bribed and 

influenced legislators in Sacramento to pass such legislation as fully set forth in Section V.H. of 

this complaint. 

46. At each stage between manufacture and implantation, the single pedicle screw 

would be astronomically marked up.  For example, a legitimate screw would cost $300 to $500 

wholesale, or if counterfeit, it would cost roughly $65 but would be listed on a hospital bill 

submitted to an insurance company at a cost of over $12,000.   

ROD
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Attached as Exhibit 1, and incorporated herein, are true and correct copies of a series of bills and 

invoices relating to a single surgery that occurred at TRI-CITY, identified as “James B.”   

C. The Conspiratorial Scheme is Fueled By the Payment of Kickbacks 

47. With the lucrative profits garnered though the conspiracy to defraud carriers, 

Defendant Hospitals sought to increase their number of spinal fusion surgeries and recruited the 

assistance of distributors to maximize profit.  With the staggering profit made from the illegal 

scheme, the Hospital Defendants and Distributor Defendants entered into contracts with the 

Marketer Defendants to pay spinal surgeons and others illegal kickbacks to perform surgeries at 

Hospital Defendants’ facilities through sham consulting agreements.  Attached are true and correct 

copies of a sample marketing agreement and a sample consulting agreement as Exhibit 2 and 

Exhibit 3, respectively, and incorporated herein. These illegal kickbacks were funneled through 

the conspiracy and paid for by the inflated hardware bills.   

48. As an example of the money paid to the Marketer Defendants to draw spinal fusion 

surgeries to the hospitals, TRI-CITY paid RANDALL more than $3.2 million to perform 

“marketing” services involving unlawfully capping, running and steering spinal surgery patients 
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and doctors to TRI-CITY between 2008 and 2011.  As of August 2011, RANDALL entered into a 

$100,000 per month agreement with DROBOT and PACIFIC HOSPITAL to cap, run and/or steer 

patients and doctors to PACIFIC HOSPITAL, so that DROBOT, by and through his wholly owned 

“sham” distributorship, Defendant II, could artificially and falsely increase the cost of the 

implantable hardware.  PACIFIC HOSPITAL would then prepare a false or fraudulent bill, 

showing the fraudulently increased cost for the spinal hardware, all to defraud insurance companies 

out of insurance benefits.   

49. As a further example, McGRATH owned and operated C.I.O.S. as a “sham” 

distributorship, which sold and distributed implantable spinal fixation devices for SS and OA, and 

served as a “marketer” for both TRI-CITY and PACIFIC HOSPITAL.  McGRATH profited from 

this conspiracy to defraud insurance carriers as a distributor of implantable spinal fixation devices, 

paying kickbacks to surgeons, including, but not limited to, AKMAKJIAN and UPPAL, in 

exchange for them designating C.I.O.S. supplied implantable hardware for use in spinal fusion 

surgeries.  At the same time, McGRATH profited as a hospital “marketer” where he was highly 

compensated for engaging in prohibited capping, running, and steering for hospitals and paying 

spinal surgeons and others kickbacks for the referral of spinal surgeries to the hospital. 

50. The Hospital Defendants also paid kickbacks to health care professionals other than 

spinal surgeons, including chiropractors and other medical doctors involved in MD/DC or 

“multidisciplinary” clinics, often operating as “sham” medical corporations, in exchange for the 

referral of potential surgical candidates in which implantable spinal hardware would be required.   

51. The Doctor Defendants were regularly paid kickbacks by the Hospital Defendants 

through the Marketer Defendants in exchange for the referral of surgeries to the hospitals, with the 

marketers and hospitals paying the surgeons as much as $15,000 per surgery performed.  Such 

kickback activity was intended to: influence medical decision making; incentivize surgeons to 

classify patients as surgical candidates; influence the medical decision on the number of vertebral 

levels to be fused; influence the medical decision to use implantable spinal hardware, as well as the 

selection of the specific implantable fixation devices; influence the medical decision on the specific 

type of procedure for stabilization of the spine; and influence the medical decision as to whether 
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extraction of implanted hardware is required, among other medical decisions.  Under this 

fraudulent scheme and conspiracy, it was axiomatic that the greater the number of procedures 

performed, the more the Defendant Doctor would be paid in illegal kickbacks, and the more profit 

all co-conspirators would derive from the illegal billing scheme.   

52. The Doctor Defendants were also paid kickbacks by the Distributor Defendants, to 

ensure the selection of implantable spinal fixation devices distributed by Defendant Distributors, 

including those implantable spinal fixation devices which were counterfeit, non-FDA approved 

“knock-offs.” The kickbacks were paid by the Distributor Defendants specifically to influence the 

medical decision making of the spinal surgeons and to induce them to select and use products 

distributed by the Distributor Defendants.   

53. Such kickbacks took different forms, including the payment of cash, the purchase of 

valuable coins, “sham” consulting agreements, the purchase of sports memorabilia, the 

“entertainment” by prostitute sand air travel, all of which was and is prohibited by federal and state 

laws.  For example, WILLIAMS leased or owned a number of airplanes which were used to 

provide travel and entertainment, free of charge, to various spinal surgeons, including, but not 

limited to the Doctor Defendants.  Flight logs from November 2006 to September 2011, prepared 

and maintained by pilots paid by WILLIAMS and SS/OA, show that flights were provided to a 

large number of spinal surgeons, including the Defendant Doctors, and transported medical devices 

and/or instruments, cash, and prostitutes or other “adult entertainers” for the spinal surgeons’ 

enjoyment.  Attached as Exhibit 4 and incorporated herein are true and correct copies of excerpts 

from flight logs kept by SS pilots.   
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54. At all times relevant, the payment of prohibited kickbacks, which were paid as 

rebates, refunds, commissions, preferences, patronage dividends, discounts, or other consideration, 

whether in the form of money or otherwise, were paid by the Hospital Defendants, Distributor 

Defendants, and Marketer Defendants to ensure the flow of spinal fusion surgery patients, all in 

furtherance of the conspiracy to defraud insurance carriers.   

55. At all times relevant, Defendants, and each of them, knew that the payment of 

kickbacks was, and is, an activity prohibited by state and federal laws to prevent corruption of the 

medical profession and ensure that medical decisions were in the best interests of patients, 

unimpaired and free from the influence of the payment of money.   

56. Notwithstanding such knowledge, Defendants knowingly and willingly engaged in 

the payment or acceptance of kickbacks in various forms, or simply turned a “blind-eye” to such 

activity, knowing that such payment was intended to influence the care and treatment of patients, 

whose health, safety and well-being were subordinated to the Defendants’ interest in financial gain.  

In addition, each Defendant engaging in the conspiracy alleged herein knew that the payment of 

prohibited kickbacks cemented the participants to the conspiracy, subjecting them to extortion or 

blackmail vis-à-vis licensure, professional and community reputation and standing, and 

professional, personal and family relationships.   

57. The Distributor Defendants and Hospital Defendants attempted to disguise or 

conceal kickback as payments for “consulting services.”  The Distributor Defendants and Hospital 

Defendants created false and fraudulent consulting agreements which paid spinal surgeons 

kickbacks in exchange for using SS or OA distributed product and/or for using specific hospitals 

without the spinal surgeons performing any of the purported duties of the consulting agreements. 

58. To accomplish the goal of the conspiracy, to prepare and present false claims to 

insurers in connection with the implantable hardware, Defendants, and each of them, made material 

misrepresentations of fact to insurers, patients, the FDA and others, concealing from them 

information relating to the conspiracy, including the existence of the kickbacks paid, as herein 

alleged, and/or that they were participating in a conspiracy to fraudulently inflate the cost of 

implantable hardware in connection with spinal fusion surgeries.   
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D. Inflated Billing and Kickbacks Incentivized Defendants to Perform More Surgeries  

59. As a result of the payment of kickbacks and financial greed, as well the existence of 

California Labor Code section 5318 and the scheme to fraudulently inflate the cost of implantable 

medical devices used in spinal fusion surgeries, the Hospital Defendants experienced a tremendous 

increase in the number of spinal fusions performed, indicative of money influencing medical 

decision making. 

60. In 1998, spinal fusion surgery was the thirty-seventh most common surgery in the 

United States.  After the enactment of Labor Code section 5318 in California, and by 2008, spinal 

fusion surgery had become the sixteenth most common surgery, costing $10 billion per year.   

61. DROBOT acquired PACIFIC HOSPITAL in 1997 and, by 1998, began entering 

into agreements with doctors, chiropractors, and marketers to induce them to perform spinal 

surgeries at hospitals owned and/or controlled by DROBOT in exchange for kickbacks.  In the year 

before DROBOT acquired PACIFIC HOSPITAL, only 162 spinal fusion surgeries were performed 

at that location.  In the year after DROBOT acquired PACIFIC HOSPITAL, that figure increased 

almost threefold, to 477 spinal fusion surgeries.  Between 2001 and 2010, no fewer than 5,138 

spinal fusion surgeries were performed on workers’ compensation patients at PACIFIC 

HOSPITAL.  For those surgeries, PACIFIC HOSPITAL billed approximately $533 million - three 

times as much as any other hospital in California for the same period of time, including 

significantly larger hospitals and major medical centers.  

62. TRI-CITY paralleled this growth.  In 2007, TRI-CITY had only $3 million in 

revenue from spinal fusion surgeries performed.  As a result of its active participation in the 

unlawful scheme described herein, however, that figure had risen to $65 million by 2010. 

63. By approximately 2005 and largely due to Labor Code section 5318, the Hospital 

Defendants had increased spinal fusion surgery profits by inflating bills and luring surgeries 

through kickbacks.  In an effort to increase profits and/or financial gains even more, the conspiracy 

turned to even more illegal and egregious actions – namely counterfeiting medical devices.   

/ / / 

/ / / 
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E. Counterfeit Hardware Devices Become A By-Product Of The Kickback And 
Overbilling Scheme   

64. At all times herein relevant, Defendants, and each of them, knew that all 

implantable spinal fixation devices used in spinal fusion surgeries required the approval of the 

FDA to assure their safety and effectiveness.  Furthermore, they knew that the act of placing an 

object of unknown origin or provenance in the body of a patient exposed the patient to an 

unreasonable risk of harm and is inappropriate, unsafe, unethical, illegal, and below standard 

practice.  Each Defendant had an obligation, responsibility, and/or duty to exercise due diligence in 

determining the origin and provenance of each implantable device which was to be placed into a 

patient’s body and that such device had FDA approval.  At all times herein relevant the 

Defendants, and each of them, knew that the health, safety and well-being of the patient were 

paramount to any other interest. 

65. In furtherance of the conspiracy to defraud insurance carriers and to further increase 

profits from spinal fusion surgeries requiring implantable spinal fixation devices, Defendants 

manufactured, distributed, sold, purchased, and/or implanted counterfeit, non-FDA approved, 

“knock-off” spinal fixation implant devices, including, but not limited to pedicle screws, rods and 

cages. 

66. From approximately 2005 and continuing until at least mid-2011, the Manufacturer 

Defendants knowingly manufactured and mass-produced for commercial distribution false, 

fraudulent, fake, counterfeit, and non-FDA approved “knock-off” medical devices at the request, 

direction, and control of SS, OA, WILLIAMS, MSW, and FIELDS.  In manufacturing such 

devices, no controls were put in place by the Manufacturer Defendants to ensure that such devices 

were safe and effective for implantation into human patients, such as Plaintiff.  The devices and 

packaging produced by the Manufacturer Defendants were “designed” and intended to give the 

appearance of being authentic, FDA-approved spinal fixation devices from FDA qualified 

manufacturers of medical devices.  

/ / / 

/ / / 
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67. CROWDER, at the direction, request, and control of WILLIAMS, MSW, FIELDS, 

SS, and OA, attempted to copy and/or counterfeit authentic FDA-approved product, including but 

not limited to those manufactured by U&I Corporation and by Ortho Sol Development (Pty) Ltd.  

Attached hereto as Exhibit 5, and incorporated herein, are true and correct copies of drawings for a 

“Multi-Axial Screw” and a “Rod Holder, Pedicle Screw System” prepared at the direction of 

WILLIAMS to imitate Ortho Sol’s “Blue & Gold” product line. 

 

68. Representatives from U&I Corporation and Ortho Sol Development (Pty) Ltd. have 

confirmed that samples of the product and packaging of supposed implantable spinal fixation 

products bearing their logo and trade name supplied by the Distributor Defendants are not genuine 

or authentic but are in fact counterfeit “knock-offs.”  A true and correct copy of an email from 
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President and CEO Richard Walker of Ortho Sol Development (Pty) Ltd. is attached as Exhibit 6, 

and is incorporated herein.   

 

 

 

 

69. The Manufacturer Defendants sold such devices to the Distributor Defendants at a 

fraction of the cost of genuine product.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 7 and incorporated herein are 

two exemplar invoices from CROWDER MTS. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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70. The Distributor Defendants, including SS, OA, WILLIAMS, and MSW, engaged in 

such counterfeiting activity in furtherance of the conspiracy, including paying the Marketer 

Defendants to “market” the counterfeit, non-FDA approved implantable hardware to the Doctor 

Defendants, and to the Hospital Defendants, through the use of financial incentives, such as 

kickbacks.  As the hardware passed from the Manufacturer Defendants to the Distributor 

Defendants to the Hospital Defendants the cost of the counterfeit hardware rose exponentially.   

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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71. The false, fraudulent, fake, counterfeit, and non-FDA approved, “knock-off” 

medical devices were manufactured, distributed, sold, purchased, and ultimately implanted into 

thousands of patients, including Plaintiff, by Defendants, and each of them, in furtherance of the 

conspiracy, and in a conscious disregard for the health, safety and well-being of the patients.  At all 

times relevant, Defendants, and each of them, knowingly participated in the scheme to defraud 

insurance carriers and engaged in this egregious, oppressive, malicious, and fraudulent conduct for 

their own financial gain by betraying the inherent trust of an exploitable patient population.  

72. At all times herein relevant, the Defendant Hospitals knowingly and willingly 

entered into agreements with the Distributor Defendants, Marketer Defendants, and/or Doctor 

Defendants for the purchase of counterfeit, non-FDA approved implantable spinal fixation 

hardware.   The Hospital Defendants readily accepted the surgical hardware, without any due 

diligence into the origin or provenance of the devices.  In light of the conspiracy to defraud 
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insurers, the Hospital Defendants knowingly and willingly turned a “blind-eye” to any product that 

was received from the Distributor Defendants.   The Hospital Defendants accepted the counterfeit, 

non-FDA approved “knock-off” spinal implants with the sole intent to fraudulently inflate the cost 

so that false billing statements could be prepared and submitted to insurers.  At all times herein 

relevant, the safety and effectiveness of the material supplied by the Distributor Defendants was of 

no concern to the Hospital Defendants.  Defendants acted with a conscious disregard for the health, 

safety and well-being of patients. 

73. At all times herein relevant, Doctor Defendants and Hospital Defendants were 

responsible for the selection of medical devices to be used in connection with spinal fusion 

surgeries performed by Doctor Defendants at Hospital Defendants, including implantable spinal 

fixation hardware, such as screws, rods, cages, screw caps and connectors.  In selecting 

implantable hardware or devices to be used in connection with spinal fusion surgeries, Doctor 

Defendants and Hospital Defendants were required by law to exercise due diligence in determining 

the origin or provenance of the medical devices to be implanted in patients and were, at all times, 

fully aware that their decision to use specific implantable hardware was required to be based on the 

best medical interests of the patient and that the decision was to be made free from the influence of 

improper inducements, such as rebates, refunds, commissions, preferences, patronage dividends, 

discounts, or other consideration.   

74. At all times herein relevant, the Hospital Defendants knew, or should have known 

through reasonable inspection and due diligence, that the implantable spinal fixation devices 

designated by the Doctor Defendants and distributed through the Distributor Defendants were 

counterfeit, non-FDA approved “knock-offs.”  Yet the Hospital Defendants allowed the Doctor 

Defendants to use such implantable hardware in spinal fusion surgeries so that they would be able 

to submit false and fraudulent billings to insurers and other payers, in accordance with the 

conspiracy.   

75. At all times relevant, Hospital Defendants either willfully ignored their duties and 

responsibilities, or conducted cursory due diligence in a reckless manner to facilitate the fraudulent 

overbilling scheme.  On information and belief, the counterfeit implantable spinal fixation devices 
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passed through the materials department of Hospital Defendants with little or no inspection, 

review, inquiry or investigation into the objects’ origin or provenance.  In addition, hospital 

management personnel at PACIFIC HOSPITAL and TRI-CITY, on the recommendation of 

AKMAKJIAN, specifically advised the materials departments to not conduct due diligence 

regarding FDA approval of any implantable spinal fixation devices entering the hospital. 

76. The Hospital Defendants did not keep records of the implantable spinal fixation 

products, including the status of 510(k) filings, the manufacturer, and the lot numbers as required 

by state and federal law.  Instead, the obligation of keeping track of the materials was delegated to 

“technicians” supplied by the Distributor Defendants, such as TYSON, who willfully and 

fraudulently failed to record any significant information in implant logs during the surgery or 

willfully created false medical records by recording inaccurate or “made-up” lot numbers.   

77. Because the implants were selected by spinal surgeons who could increase revenues 

to hospitals through the performance of more spinal fusion surgeries, the material that the spinal 

surgeons specified was accepted without question or inquiry.  As a consequence, potentially 

thousands of spinal fusion patients in Southern California had foreign objects implanted into their 

spines by spinal surgeons/co-conspirators at the Defendant Hospitals under the guise of such 

objects being FDA-approved spinal fixation devices.   

78. Notwithstanding obligations and duties to conduct due diligence into the origin or 

provenance of implantable spinal fixation hardware, and to keep records of the same, as well as 

their knowledge that such duties are required for the health, safety and well-being of patients, 

Doctor Defendants performed numerous spinal fusion surgeries at Hospital Defendants using 

spinal fixation devices distributed by SS, OA, and C.I.O.S. that were false, fraudulent, fake, 

counterfeit, non-FDA approved “knock-offs.”   

79. At all times herein relevant, the Hospital Defendants knowingly failed to conduct a 

reasonable inspection and/or their due diligence in connection with the implantable spinal fixation 

devices supplied by SS, OA, and/or C.I.O.S.  The Hospital Defendants acquiesced in the use of the 

counterfeit, non-FDA approved “knock-off” hardware specified by the Doctor Defendants to keep 

the lucrative spinal fusion surgeries at the Hospital Defendants’ facilities and to facilitate the 
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submission of grossly inflated bills for the implantable hardware as part of the scheme and in 

furtherance of the conspiracy.   

80. Furthermore, the Hospital Defendants, based on the number of spinal fusion 

surgeries performed by the Doctor Defendants, knew or should have known that the surgical trays 

containing implantable spinal fixation devices supplied by SS, C.I.O.S., OA, McGRATH, and 

WILLIAMS contained bogus, non-FDA approved material, yet willingly accepted the material 

knowing that it would be implanted into the body of patients, all with a conscious disregard of the 

rights, health, safety and well-being of patients, including Plaintiff.  At all times herein relevant, 

the Hospital Defendants, and each of them, were reckless in their review and inspection of material 

provided by the Distributor Defendants and/or turned a blind-eye to their duties and responsibilities 

of inquiring, knowing that they would make more money by having the Defendant Doctors 

perform surgeries at their facility.  Defendants, and each of them, chose profit over sound medical 

decision-making. 

81. The conspiracy to defraud insurance companies resulted in health insurers, workers’ 

compensation carriers, other payers, including government entities, Medi-Cal and Medicare being 

bilked out of hundreds of millions of dollars.  It directly led to patients being implanted with non-

FDA approved medical devices that do not meet performance or safety standards and that can 

cause harm to patients’ health due to implant failure, loosening, lack of sterilization and/or 

biocompatibility.  Caught in the incestuous web of profiteering by these Defendant conspirators, 

were unsuspecting individuals, including Plaintiff, who, on information and belief, had foreign 

objects surgically placed in her spine. 

F. The FDA’s Surprise Inspection of SS and OA in 2011 Caused WILLIAMS, MSW, 
FIELDS and Others to Engage in Spoliation of Evidence 

82. Between July 20, 2011 and September 23, 2011, the FDA inspected both SS and 

OA as “manufacturers” per FDA regulations for preparing surgery trays which contained 

components of spinal fixations systems.  On information and belief, the FDA was unaware of the 

counterfeiting or any other manufacturing activities of Defendants when it initiated its inspection 

of the offices and warehouse of SS and OA.   
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83. In response to the inspection, SS, OA, WILLIAMS, MSW, FIELDS and others 

concealed all such activity and all records relating to such activity from the FDA.  Subsequent to 

the commencement of the FDA inspections, SS, OA, WILLIAMS, MSW, FIELDS and others 

began to destroy and/or hide evidence relating to the origin or provenance of any and all spinal 

fixation components that were manufactured and/or distributed by SS and OA in an effort to 

prevent the FDA from learning that such Defendants were manufacturing counterfeit, non-FDA 

approved “knock-off” medical devices and to prevent the FDA, insurers, patients, and the public 

from learning that they had manufactured, distributed, sold, and/or implanted counterfeit surgical 

hardware despite the risk to the health, safety, and well-being of patients.   

84. In addition, WILLIAMS and FIELDS lied to and/or intentionally misled the FDA in 

sworn affidavits, all in furtherance of the conspiracy, by stating that SS and OA did not design or 

manufacture “Spinal Fixation Systems or components including, screws, rods, caps, or vertebral 

body replacements.”  At the time they made such statements, WILLIAMS and FIELDS knew that 

the statements were untrue, given that WILLIAMS, SS, OA, MSW, FIELDS, CROWDER, 

CROWDER MTS and others had been involved in the design, manufacture, distribution and sale 

the false and fraudulent spinal fixation components for approximately four years at that point. 

Attached hereto as Exhibit 8, and incorporated herein, are true and correct copies of the sworn 

affidavits, executed by WILLIAMS and FIELDS.   

85. Upon completion of the investigation, the FDA sent its observations to SS and OA.  

With respect to SS, the FDA made sixteen observations ranging from failing to prepare or maintain 

device history records to failing to prepare and maintain distribution records, including identifying 

the consignee, identification of the quantity of items shipped, the date shipped, and the control 

numbers for the Spinal Fixation Systems kits and components.  True and correct copies of the 

observations are attached as Exhibit 9, and are incorporated herein.   

86. In response to the observations of the inspectors, Arnold Neves, Jr., General 

Counsel for SS and OA, wrote to the FDA agreeing with all of the observations made and 

deficiencies noted and promised that they would be corrected.   A true and correct copy of Mr. 

Neves’ September 29, 2011 correspondence is attached as Exhibit 10 and incorporated herein. 
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87. Based on the investigation, the FDA issued two warning letters to SS and OA, 

indicating that it had determined that SS was a manufacturer because it was a “repacker/kit 

assembler of spinal implant systems, and an own-label distributor of spinal implant instruments.”  

A true and correct copy of the January 19, 2012 and February 3, 2012 letters are attached as 

Exhibit 11 and Exhibit 12, respectively, and incorporated herein.  In the warning letters, the FDA 

noted no fewer than fourteen (14) violations of Title 21, Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 

820. At the conclusion of the January 19, 2012 letter, the FDA stated, “Your firm should take 

prompt action to correct the violations addressed in this letter.  Failure to promptly correct these 

violations may result in regulatory action being initiated by the FDA without further notice.  These 

actions include, but are not limited to, seizure, injunction, and civil money penalties.”   
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88. On information and belief, WILLIAMS, MSW, and FIELDS did nothing to take 

corrective action vis-à-vis the observations and continued to manufacture and distribute to hospitals 

counterfeit, non-FDA approved “knock-off” implantable spinal fixation devices. 

89. After receiving the Warning Letter from the FDA, SS, OA and WILLIAMS hired 

outside medical device and regulatory consultants to respond to the FDA warning letters to SS and 

OA and to prepare a “Corrective and Prevention Action to Address 483’s and Warning Letter.”  

The consultants inspected the facilities maintained by WILLIAMS, MSW and FIELDS and found 

them to be in disarray, with product unmarked and stored in random locations in the warehouse and 

in various offices.  The consultants found no records showing product coming into SS from 

outside suppliers, vendors and manufacturers.  They found nothing to suggest that SS was 

preparing or maintaining records related to manufacturers’ lot numbers on spinal fixation 

products.  They observed screws in bulk in plastic bags.  They observed “consulting 

agreements” with medical doctors haphazardly stored in boxes and other random locations.   

90. WILLIAMS and FIELDS intentionally misled and deceived the consultants into 

believing that implantable spinal fixation devices were being manufactured by CROWDER at 

CROWDER MTS under an agreement with Ortho Sol Development (Pty) Ltd.  Believing in good 

faith the misrepresentations made by WILLIAMS and FIELDS, the consultants inspected 

CROWDER MTS with CROWDER present in 2012.  At that time CROWDER admitted that he 

was producing the surgical implant hardware and various tools used in implanting or explanting 

such product.  CROWDER informed the consultants that he did not calibrate his manufacturing 

equipment to ensure that it met FDA guidelines.  The consultants noted that the equipment used to 

produce the product was antiquated and that the quality of the work was not in conformity with 

FDA standards, such as screws with varying thread size.   

91. Based on the inspection, the consultants immediately told WILLIAMS that any 

and all product and tools produced by CROWDER must be quarantined and any product 

sold or distributed that originated from CROWDER MTS must be recalled, since none of the 

product met FDA standards and the product represented a safety hazard to patients.  The 

consultants created recall notices recalling the hardware for failing to meet performance, safety, 
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testing, and documentation standards.  Attached as Exhibit 13 and incorporated herein are two 

recall notices prepared by the consultants.    

92. Despite the consultants’ warning that all products emanating from 

CROWDER and/or CROWDER MTS must be quarantined and recalled based on patient 

safety, Defendants did nothing, all in furtherance of the conspiracy.   

G. A Cover Up Was Absolutely Necessary to the Continued Success of the Scheme 

93. To achieve the goal of the fraudulent scheme it was necessary that the Defendant 

co-conspirators actively conceal it from patients, insurers, other payers, and the FDA.  The 

fraudulent scheme included agreement by and among the co-Defendants/co-conspirators, and each 

of them, to disguise the true identity, source, origin, provenance, actual cost and/or 

manufacturer/producer of implantable hardware used in the spinal fusion surgeries, because 

Defendants, and each of them, knew there was a lack of documentation or other supporting 

evidence to establish that the implantable hardware used in thousands of spinal surgeries, including 

Plaintiff’s surgery, was FDA approved or safe for use in spinal fusion surgeries.  

94. When the FDA first arrived to inspect SS on the basis that it was the manufacturer 

of trays for spinal fusion surgeries, WILLIAMS, in conjunction with MSW and FIELDS, 

willfully and intentionally destroyed and/or hid records and documents related to the 

production, manufacture, distribution and sale of the implantable spinal hardware.  

WILLIAMS, MSW and FIELDS willfully and intentionally engaged in multiple acts of spoliation 
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of evidence, acting to conceal the fact that much of the inventory of items used in connection with 

spinal fusion surgeries was counterfeit, bogus or a non-FDA approved “knock-off.”  WILLIAMS, 

MSW and FIELDS engaged in such spoliation to preclude the FDA from learning that 

CROWDER, at CROWDER MTS was producing the counterfeit product and that thousands of 

bills had been generated for payment reflecting the cost of original, genuine equipment, not fake 

product.  In doing so, WILLIAMS, MSW and FIELDS acted in their own financial interest with a 

conscious disregard of the right of patients such as CAVALIERI.  

95. Because of the intentional spoliation of evidence and failure to document required 

information such as product lot numbers, quantity, and destination, the origin and provenance of all 

products manufactured, distributed and sold by SS and OA cannot be determined.  At the time 

Defendants began to engage in spoliation of evidence in reaction to the FDA inspection, 

Defendants knew that discovery of the conspiracy, including discovery of the manufacture of 

counterfeit, non-FDA approved “knock-off” hardware, would cause the immediate cessation of the 

conspiracy and criminal and civil legal battles.  At the time of the destruction of evidence, 

Defendants were in exclusive control of the documents.   

H. Revelations Of The Depth Of The Scheme From The Drobot Indictment 

96. The scope and depth of the scheme was publicly exposed on February 21, 2014, 

when DROBOT, the owner and operator of PACIFIC HOSPITAL, entered into a Plea Agreement 

regarding his participation and orchestration of a conspiratorial scheme to defraud patients of his or 

her right to the delivery of honest medical services.  A true and correct copy of the Information and 

Plea Agreement are attached as Exhibit 14 and Exhibit 15, respectively, and incorporated herein.   

97. Pursuant to the Plea Agreement, on or about April 24, 2014, DROBOT pled guilty 

in the United States District Court, Central District of California, before the Hon. Josephine L. 

Staton, U.S. District Judge, to paying kickbacks to doctors, chiropractors, marketers and others for 

their referring workers’ compensation patients to PACIFIC HOSPITAL for spine surgeries, other 

types of surgeries, magnetic resonance imaging, toxicology, durable medical equipment and other 

services.  DROBOT presently faces five years in federal prison when he appears for his December 

2014 sentencing. 
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98. In pleading guilty, DROBOT admitted that between 1998 through November 2013, 

he recruited, as members of a conspiracy, doctors, chiropractors, and marketers, who received 

kickback payments as a means to induce them to perform surgeries at hospitals owned and/or 

controlled by DROBOT.  DROBOT admitted to paying $15,000 per lumbar fusion surgery and 

$10,000 per cervical fusion surgery.  Additionally, DROBOT utilized medical hardware for 

surgeries at PACIFIC HOSPITAL supplied by distributors with ties to DROBOT.   He also 

admitted to using II to purchase medical hardware and inflating the price for so that PACIFIC 

HOSPITAL could submit false claims to payers, including insurance carriers, for payment.  

DROBOT conceded that the purpose of the conspiracy—utilizing kickbacks—was to artificially 

increase the cost of the medical hardware as part of the resulting combined charge for spinal 

surgery and related medical services, delivered by the physician and hospital to the patient.   

99. The scheme was so wide in its reach that it included DROBOT paying a stream of 

financial benefits to a California State Legislator in order to recruit his assistance in defeating 

legislation that would have eliminated a loophole in the law that threatened the continued existence 

of the scheme. To grease his way, DROBOT, as well as Defendants, and DOES 1 through 200, 

donated approximately $1.9 million to political campaigns since 2000 and bribed other politicians 

to influence legislation that supported their fraudulent scheme.   

100. California State Senator Ronald Calderon and his brother, Tom Calderon, accepted 

kickbacks through phony contracts, extravagant trips, and expensive meals to write, support, and/or 

reject legislation in furtherance of Defendants’ conspiracy.  The Calderon brothers also pushed 

other legislators to introduce and support legislation that was favorable to DROBOT and 

Defendants’ scheme.   

101. In 2001, then California State Assembly member Tom Calderon carried a bill that 

extended a favorable fee schedule for spinal surgeries that was due to expire at the end of 2001.  In 

2002, Tom Calderon wrote and passed a workers’ compensation overhaul bill that, buried within its 

39,000 page, made it nearly impossible to cap spinal fusions surgeries prices.  When Tom Calderon 

lost his seat, he continued to influence legislation in favor of Defendants by becoming a consultant 

to PACIFIC HOSPITAL.   
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102. As a result of bribes and kickbacks, the Calderon brothers also attempted to block a 

2012 bill that would have changed the state workers’ compensation and drastically cut Defendants’ 

profits.  First introduced as Senate Bill 959, the bill would have eliminated the provisions that 

allowed hospitals to charge extra for implanting hardware during spinal surgery on workers’ 

compensation patients – undercutting Defendants’ tactic of inflating medical bills.  The bill was 

incorporated into Senate Bill 863, which altered the workers’ compensation system.  Senator 

Ronald Calderon was one of the nine lawmakers who voted against the bill despite overwhelming 

support from the other 111 California State Assembly and Senate members.  

103. As a result of the donations, bribes, and/or kickbacks, Senator Calderon was 

indicted on twenty-four criminal charges while Thomas Calderon was charged with eight counts in 

February 2014.  A true and correct copy of Senator Calderon’s Indictment is attached as Exhibit 

16 and incorporated herein.   

104. The fraudulent scheme to which DROBOT confessed was not limited to the doctors, 

hospitals and/or suppliers of medical services and medical hardware at PACIFIC HOSPITAL.  Nor 

was the profiteering among the conspirators limited to payments of kickbacks and manipulation of 

grossly inflated patient billing for surgeries and related hardware.  As alleged herein, the scheme at 

its worst and most despicable extreme involved the counterfeit manufacture and distribution of 

non-FDA approved medical hardware, including rods, screws and/or cages implanted in patients 

during spinal surgeries without their knowledge or consent. 

I. Defendant Doctors Have Falsified Medical Records as Part of The Conspiracy 

105. In addition to making entries in medical records that were and are false and 

fraudulent, i.e. that FDA-approved implantable spinal hardware was used in connection with spinal 

fusion surgeries, either expressly or impliedly, Defendant Doctors have made entries into records 

suggesting that the nature and type of implantable spinal fixation devices was fully discussed with 

patients prior to surgery.  UPPAL clearly knew that the implants that were being placed into the 

bodies of his patients were not FDA approved.  Shortly after articles appeared in the Wall 

Street Journal concerning spinal fusion surgeries in Southern California and the payment of 

kickbacks, UPPAL began to indicate in operative reports and hospital records that he 
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advised the patient that the implants that would be used were not FDA approved or 

“experimental” and may require extraction as a means of trying to insulate himself from 

liability with respect to the conspiracy and the implantation of counterfeit, non-FDA 

approved “knock-off” spinal fixation devices.  True and correct copies of the February 9, 2012 

Wall Street Journal article and the September 21, 2012 operative report prepared by UPPAL are 

attached as Exhibit 17 and Exhibit 18, respectively, and are incorporated herein.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

106. AKMAKJIAN maintains such poor medical records that he is the subject of a 

pending accusation by the Medical Board of the State of California, a true and correct copy of 

which is attached as Exhibit 19 and incorporated herein.  In his operative reports and other 
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records prepared in connection with spinal fusion surgeries, he regularly represents that he 

has discussed the implants to be used in the spinal fusion surgery as well as their FDA status, 

both of which are untrue. 

J. Cavalieri Becomes Collateral Damage to Defendants’ Fraudulent Scheme 

82. Unbeknownst to CAVALIERI, AHMED was a willing and longstanding participant 

in the fraudulent scheme carried out by Defendants predicated in the submission of fraudulent bills 

to payers, including insurance carriers, for the cost of implantable hardware.  Similarly, 

CAVALIERI was unaware that AHMED regularly specified the use of certain specific implantable 

hardware at PACIFIC HOSPITAL and other hospitals based on the payment of kickbacks to him 

from the manufacturer, distributor, and/or marketer of such hardware; supplemented by kickbacks 

paid by or on behalf of hospitals, including, on information and belief, PACIFIC HOSPITAL for 

AHMED to conduct surgeries at PACIFIC HOSPITAL. 

83. On information and belief, PACIFIC HOSPITAL and/or DROBOT, or a person or 

“marketer” acting on behalf of PACIFIC HOSPITAL, paid AHMED a rebate, refund, commission, 

preference, patronage dividend, discount, or other consideration, whether in the form of money or 

otherwise, to perform surgeries at PACIFIC HOSPITAL as part of the larger scheme to defraud 

insurance companies. AHMED, at all times herein relevant, was knowingly designating and 

prescribing counterfeit, non-FDA hardware in spinal fusion surgeries through the use of SS, OA 

and C.I.O.S.  DROBOT, II and PACIFIC HOSPITAL were also knowing purchasers and 

distributors of the counterfeit, non-FDA approved “knock-off” implantable spinal fixation devices 

supplied by WILLIAMS, SS and OA. 

84. AHMED and PACIFIC HOSPITAL were exclusively responsible for the selection 

of medical devices to be used in connection with CAVALIERI’s surgeries, including implantable 

spinal fixation hardware, such as screws, rods, cages, screw caps and connectors.  In selecting the 

implantable hardware to be used in connection with CAVALIERI’s surgeries, AHMED and 

PACIFIC HOSPITAL were fully aware that their decision to use specific implantable hardware 

was required to be based on the best medical interests of the patient, and that the decision was to be 

made free from the influence of improper inducements, such as rebates, refunds, commissions, 
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preferences, patronage dividends, discounts, or other consideration offered and/or paid by the 

manufacturer, distributor and/or other vendor of the implantable hardware.  In short, Defendants, 

and each of them, knew that the selection of implantable hardware to be placed into the body of 

CAVALIERI could not, by law, be influenced, in any respect, by the payment of disguised 

kickbacks or the prospect of filing a fraudulent insurance claim against CAVALIERI’s workers’ 

compensation carrier. 

85. As a result of AHMED’s unlawful receipt of kickbacks from Defendants, in return 

for his undivided patronage to his co-Defendants, AHMED knowingly and/or with reckless 

disregard for the provenance or origin of the implantable spinal fusion hardware, implanted non-

FDA approved medical hardware in patients such as CAVALIERI.  In short, AHMED used the 

counterfeit, non-FDA approved spinal fixation hardware that was implanted into CAVALIERI’s 

spine because he was being paid a kickback or kickbacks for doing so.   

86. At all times herein relevant, like the other hospitals involved in the conspiracy, 

DROBOT and PACIFIC HOSPTIAL perceived spinal fusion surgeries as a source of revenue due 

to the unconscionable, fraudulent and illegal mark-up on spinal implants.  As a consequence, 

DROBOT and PACIFIC HOSPITAL abandoned all responsibility to Plaintiff, to ensure that the 

material being placed into her body at PACIFIC HOSPITAL was safe, effective, properly 

manufactured and FDA-approved.  On information and belief, in accordance with the conspiracy, it 

conducted little or no due diligence into the origin or provenance of the objects that were ultimately 

surgically placed into CAVALIERI’s body by AHMED.  Instead, in order to continue a revenue 

stream from spinal fusion surgeries, DROBOT, PACIFIC HOSPITAL, II, and AHMED designated 

and used undocumented and counterfeit objects for use in surgeries, including Plaintiff’s surgeries. 

87. As a direct consequence of the conduct of Defendants, and each of them, 

CAVALIERI sustained injury, including having foreign objects implanted into her spine without 

her knowledge and consent.  

88. In furtherance of the scheme, Defendants, and each of them, have to this day 

knowingly conspired to conceal from CAVALIERI the true identity, source, origin, provenance 

and/or manufacturer of the foreign objects that were implanted into her spine during the course of 
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the ALIF and PLIF procedures performed by AHMED at PACIFIC HOSPITAL.  Defendants’ 

concealment continues despite their superior knowledge and/or exclusive control of records and 

other information concerning the origin or provenance of the foreign objects, despite DROBOT’s 

pledge of cooperation in his plea agreement, and with full knowledge their legal obligation to 

advise CAVALIERI, as a patient, that there was and is a substantial probability that foreign objects 

were surgically placed into her body during the course of the surgeries.   

89. To Defendants, and each of them, CAVALIERI was simply another patient in 

whom implantable hardware could be placed, regardless of whether it was authentic, genuine, safe 

and effective, so that the goal of the conspiracy could be achieved, to defraud insurance companies 

and ensure a continued stream of unlawful profits for the participant co-conspirator Defendants. At 

all times herein relevant, Defendants, and each of them, acted with a conscious disregard of the 

rights, health, safety and well-being of CAVALIERI for the purpose of their own financial gain.  

90. At all times herein relevant, CAVALIERI relied on AHMED, that he was placing 

his obligations as a physician and surgeon to patients, including CAVALIERI, paramount to any 

consideration of financial gain.  CAVALIERI did not know, nor would have reason to know that in 

exchange for kickbacks, AHMED was a willing participant in the conspiracy described herein.  As 

a consequence, she, like thousands of other patients, now suffers from having foreign objects in her 

spine, the origin or provenance of which cannot be identified and the safety and efficacy of which 

cannot be measured due to the extremely egregious conduct of the Defendants, and each of them.  

Moreover, given the use of the “360” spinal fusion procedures, the cages implanted into 

CAVALIERI’s body cannot be removed without substantial risk of injury or death.   

VI. CAUSES OF ACTION 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants)  

(Battery) 

91. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and realleges all of the allegations stated 

in this Complaint.  
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92. Due to the conspiracy to defraud insurance carriers, as alleged herein, and the 

concerted wrongful acts of Defendants, and each of them, Plaintiff consented to what he believed 

was a spinal fusion surgery using FDA- approved implantable spinal hardware. 

93. On or about June 26, 2010 and September 18, 2010, AHMED performed two spinal 

fusion surgeries on Plaintiff at PACIFIC HOSPITAL, using false, fraudulent, fake, counterfeit, 

non-FDA approved “knock-off”, and defective spinal hardware, the origin or provenance of which 

cannot be established save and except that it came from SS, knowing that Plaintiff and any other 

patient in her position would object and would not consent to surgery using foreign objects under 

the guise of being non-FDA approved hardware.  Plaintiff, at all times herein relevant, believed 

that AHMED was acting in her best interest, and in the interest of her health, safety and well-being 

and never consented to the implantation of anything other than FDA approved spinal fixation 

hardware.  As herein alleged, AHMED implanted foreign objects into CAVALIERI’s spine on the 

basis that he was being paid a kickback to use the foreign objects in lieu of FDA-approved spinal 

hardware.   

94. Defendants, and each of them, acting individually and/or in concert as part of a 

greater conspiracy as hereinabove set forth, knew and/or acted with a wilful and conscious 

disregard of Plaintiff’s rights with regard to the manufacture, supply, distribution, and/or 

implantation of surgical hardware as part of the surgery performed on Plaintiff.  

95. As a means of furthering their own independent economic interest in the continuing 

flow of profits, kickbacks, and/or other financial rewards, Defendants, and each of them, acted with 

a conscious disregard for the source of manufacture and/or supply of medical hardware from their 

co-Defendants, with the knowledge that devices would be used in surgical procedures on patients.  

Due to conflicts of interest in receiving kickbacks from their co-defendant suppliers of medical 

hardware, co-defendant hospital and doctors willfully disregarded any inquiry into whether their 

co-defendant suppliers were approved by the FDA to distribute the medical hardware used in 

Plaintiff’s surgery.   

96. Defendants, individually and/or in concert, intentionally, unlawfully, harmfully, 

unreasonably, and/or offensively performed the spinal fusion surgery without obtaining Plaintiff’s 
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informed consent that non-FDA approved medical devices were used in connection with her 

surgery and for the purposes of Defendants’ financial gain.    

97. As a result of the use non-FDA approved spinal implant hardware, Plaintiff was, 

and continues to be, harmed by the presence of foreign objects in her body, including cages that are 

now part of a spinal fusion.  On information and belief, the counterfeit hardware which has a 

substantial likelihood of failure, places Plaintiff’s life at risk, and may subject Plaintiff to further 

surgeries to replace the counterfeit hardware.   

98. As a direct and legal cause of the acts and omissions of Defendants, and each of 

them, Plaintiff was hurt in her health, strength, and activity, and sustained bodily injuries, as 

described herein, which have cause, and continue to cause Plaintiff great physical and severe 

emotional pain, distress, and suffering, in an amount according to proof.   

99. By reason of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff was required to and continues 

to employ physicians and other health care providers to examine, treat and care for her injuries 

and/or to remove or replace the counterfeit, non-FDA spinal implant hardware.  Plaintiff has 

incurred, and will continue to incur, medical and incidental expenses for such examination, 

treatment, rehabilitation and care in an amount according to proof. 

100. By further reason of the incident, Plaintiff has suffered a loss of income and/or a 

loss of earning capacity in an amount according to proof. 

101. In doing the wrongful and intentional acts as herein alleged, Defendants acted with 

oppression, fraud and malice and with conscious and willful disregard for the health, safety and 

general welfare and rights of Plaintiff. Such action was done with malice, oppression and/or fraud 

and was and is despicable, shocking and offensive and entitles the Plaintiff to an award of punitive 

damages against Defendants in an amount to be determined at trial.  

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants)  

(Fraud – Concealment) 

102. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and rellages all of the allegations stated in 

this Complaint.  
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103. Defendants, and each of them, had fiduciary duties to and/or confidential 

relationships with Plaintiff in which Defendants had a duty to disclose material facts to Plaintiff 

relevant to her spinal fusion surgery, including that AHMED implanted foreign objects in her body, 

that the implanted hardware was counterfeit, non-FDA approved.  

104. Only Defendants, and each of them, had knowledge and or access to knowledge of 

the true source and/or FDA status of the surgical hardware.   

105. Blinded by their own independent economic interests, Defendants, and each of 

them, intentionally and/or in reckless disregard for the truth concealed, suppressed and/or failed to 

disclose material facts relevant to the spinal hardware with the intent to deceive and influence the 

actions of Plaintiff.  

106. Defendants, and each of them, knew that patients would not and/or could not inspect 

the hardware to ensure that the hardware was safe and FDA approved.  Defendants orally, in 

writing, and/or by implication led Plaintiff to believe that the medical devices met with FDA 

approval and/or were safe for spinal fusions.   

107. Plaintiff reasonably relied on Defendants’ deception in which Defendants concealed 

the manufacture and supply of counterfeit hardware which Defendants, and each of them, knew 

would be implanted in patients by co-Defendants.  At the time Plaintiff acted in reliance on 

Defendants’ misrepresentations, Plaintiff was unaware of the facts Defendants concealed, 

suppressed, and/or failed to disclose and would not have consented to surgery if he had known the 

true facts.   

108. Due to Defendants’ individual and/or concerted concealment of material 

information, Plaintiff consented to what she believed was a spinal fusion surgery using FDA 

approved implantable hardware. 

109. As a direct and legal cause of Defendants’ concealment, Plaintiff suffered, and 

continues to suffer, the injuries and damages hereinabove set forth.  

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants)  

(Fraud – Intentional Misrepresentation) 

110. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and rellages all of the allegations stated in 

this Complaint.  

111. In furtherance of Defendants’ individual economic interests, Defendants, and each 

of them, intentionally and/or in reckless disregard for the truth represented to Plaintiff orally, in 

writing, and/or by implication that the spinal fusion hardware met with FDA approval and was safe 

for spinal fusion surgery.    

112. In order to maximize their flow of profits, kickbacks, and/or other financial rewards, 

Defendants, and each of them, represented the true source and/or FDA status of the hardware to 

Plaintiff with the intent to deceive and induce Plaintiff to consent to surgery.   

113. As a direct and legal cause of Defendants’ misrepresentations, Plaintiff suffered, 

and continues to suffer, the injuries and damages hereinabove set forth.  

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants)  

(Breach of Fiduciary Duty)  

114. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and realleges all of the allegations stated 

in this Complaint.  

115. Defendants, as medical device providers, practitioners, healthcare providers, and 

surgeons, owed a duty to exercise and possess the degree of skill and care in the prognosis and 

treatment of Plaintiff, including the performance of surgery and manufacture of medical devices, 

ordinarily exercised by the average qualified medical device provider, practitioner, healthcare 

provider, and/or surgeon.  

116. In furtherance of Defendants’ individual and/or concerted efforts to maximize 

profits, kickbacks, and/or other financial rewards, Defendants breached and/or encouraged, aided, 

and/or assisted in breaching the fiduciary duty owed to Plaintiff by failing to advise Plaintiff of the 

use of counterfeit, non-FDA approved spinal hardware and by failing to act as a reasonably careful 
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physician, medical provider, supplier, and/or manufacturer of medical hardware.   

117. As a direct and legal cause of Defendants’ conspiracy to breach the fiduciary duties 

owed to Plaintiff, Plaintiff suffered, and continues to suffer, the injuries and damages hereinabove 

set forth. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants) 

(Strict Products Liability) 

118. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and realleges all of the allegations stated 

in this Complaint.  

119. Defendants, and each of them, acted individually and/or in concert to illegally 

increase profits, kickbacks, and/or financial payments from spinal fusion surgeries by 

manufacturing, distributing, selling, and/or implanting counterfeit, non-FDA approved spinal 

hardware.   

120. The counterfeit spinal implant hardware, which was not FDA tested, and/or 

approved, contained a manufacturing defect when it left Defendants’ possession, was defectively 

designed so as not to perform as safely as an ordinary consumer would have expected FDA 

approved hardware to perform, and had potential risks that were known and/or knowable to 

Defendants at the time of the manufacture, distribution, sale, and/or use that presented a substantial 

danger to patients when used in an intended or reasonably foreseeable way.   

121. As a direct and legal result of these wrongful acts or omissions of Defendants, 

Plaintiff suffered, and continues to suffer, the injuries and damages hereinabove set forth. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants)  

(Breach of Express Warranty)  

122. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and realleges all of the allegations stated 

in this Complaint. 

123. In order to maximize Defendants’ independent financial rewards from the 

conspiracy, Defendants, and each of them, represented orally, in writing, and/or by implication to 



 

COMPLAINT 42 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Plaintiff that the spinal implant hardware used in Plaintiff’s spinal fusion surgery would be FDA 

approved hardware when in fact the surgical implant hardware utilized in Plaintiff’s surgery was 

non-FDA approved surgical hardware and was not of the same quality as FDA approved surgical 

hardware.     

124. As a direct and legal result of these wrongful acts or omissions of Defendants, 

Plaintiff suffered, and continues to suffer, the injuries and damages hereinabove set forth. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants) 

(Breach of Implied Warranty)  

125. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and realleges all of the allegations stated 

in this Complaint. 

126. Plaintiff reasonably relied on the skill and judgment of Defendants, and as such their 

implied warranty, in undergoing spinal fusion surgery with surgical implant hardware 

manufactured, designed, sold, selected, and/or implanted by Defendants, and each of them.    

127. As a direct and legal result of these wrongful acts or omissions of Defendants, 

Plaintiff suffered, and continues to suffer, the injuries and damages hereinabove set forth. 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants) 

(Medical Monitoring)  

128. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and realleges all of the allegations stated 

in this Complaint.  

129. Defendants, and each of them, manufactured, sold, supplied, and/or implanted 

counterfeit, non-FDA approved spinal hardware into patients from approximately 2007 through 

2013.  Such patients are at risk of suffering adverse health effects and/or premature failure of those 

counterfeit, non-FDA approved medical devices.   

130. Plaintiff is similarly situated as a patient of AHMED who received surgery at 

PACIFIC HOSPITAL and firmly believes that the above described deceitful and fraudulent scheme 

resulted in a pattern and practice of implanting counterfeit, non-FDA approved surgical hardware.  
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131. Due to Defendants’ fraudulent scheme and concealment of information of which 

patients received counterfeit devices in their surgeries, Plaintiff will require reasonable future 

monitoring to determine if Plaintiff has been exposed to health risks and/or premature failure of 

hardware as a result. 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants) 

(Constructive Trust)  

132. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and realleges all of the allegations stated 

in this Complaint.  

133. In the name of personal and corporate wealth, Defendants’ individual and/or 

concerted actions resulted in a pattern and practice of promoting, prescribing, and/or performing 

unnecessary spinal surgeries from 2008 to November 2013 using counterfeit hardware in a 

conscious and reckless disregard for the health and safety of Plaintiff and other patients.  

134. As a result of Defendants’ fraudulent conduct and unjust enrichment, Plaintiff 

requests the imposition of a constructive trust created with the profits, plus interest, earned by 

Defendants as a result of the conspiracy.  The constructive trust will support the medical care and 

treatment of Plaintiff and similarly situated patients.   

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants) 

(Unjust Enrichment) 

135. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and realleges all of the allegations stated 

in this Complaint.  

136. As a result of their continuous and systematic misrepresentations and failure to 

disclose the above described conspiracy, Defendants were unjustly enriched.   

137. Defendants knew, or should have known, of the benefit they were receiving due to 

their misrepresentations and failure to disclose, and enjoyed the benefit of increased financial 

gains, to the detriment of Plaintiff, who paid for a surgery that was prescribed in order to increase 

Defendants’ financial gains and who paid a higher price for a product of lower value.  It would be 
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inequitable and unjust for Defendants to retain these unlawfully obtained profits.   

138. Plaintiff seeks an order establishing Defendants as constructive trustees of the 

profits unjustly obtained, plus interest.  

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants) 

(Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress) 

139. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and realleges all of the allegations stated 

in this Complaint.   

140. The actions of Defendants, and each of them, as described hereinabove, were 

outrageous and abused Defendants’ positions of authority and/or power over Plaintiff.  

141. Defendants, and each of them, intended to cause severe, emotional distress, and/or 

acted in conscious disregard of the probability that Plaintiff would suffer emotional distress.  

142. As a direct and legal result of these wrongful acts or omissions of Defendants, 

Plaintiff suffered, and continues to suffer, the injuries and damages hereinabove set forth, including 

but not limited to severe emotional distress. 

TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Against All Defendants)  

(Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress) 

143. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference and realleges all of the allegations stated 

in this Complaint.  

144. Defendants breached the duties owed to Plaintiff by implanting counterfeit, non-

FDA approved spinal hardware in Plaintiff in furtherance of Defendants’ personal and/or corporate 

financial gains.   

145. As a direct and legal result of these wrongful acts or omissions of Defendants, 

Plaintiff suffered, and continues to suffer, the injuries and damages hereinabove set forth. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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